
**PERSONAL AUDIO ENHANCERS ARE AVAILABLE FROM THE COUNCIL SECRETARY** 
AGENDA FOR REGULAR ELKHART CITY COUNCIL MEETING

LOCATION:  CITY HALL, 2ND FLOOR, COUNCIL CHAMBERS
February 14, 2022 

7:00 P.M. 
 

1.   Call to Order, Pledge, Moment of Silent Meditation, Roll Call 
 
2.  Minutes for Approval         
 Minutes of January 10, 2022 Council Meeting    
 
3.  Presentations and Introductions 

 
4.  Unfinished Business 
 

a) Reports of Council Committees  
        

b) Ordinances on Second-Third Reading      
PROPOSED ORDINANCE 22-O-03, an ordinance of the Common Council of the City 

no. 3116, establishing the rules and regulations for the government of the Common 
Council of the City of Elkhart, Indiana, and its me
council member to participate in council meetings by means of electronic 
communication. 

            PROPOSED ORDINANCE 22-O-04, an ordinance to establish responsible bidding       
            practices and submission requirements on public works projects. 

PROPOSED ORDINANCE 22-O-05, an ordinance amending the zoning map                 
  

49 W. Indiana Avenue in the City       
of Elkhart, Indiana from R-3, two-family dwelling district to R-2, one-family dwelling      
district. 

 
c) Ordinances and Resolutions Referred to Committees 
PROPOSED ORDINANCE 21-O-46, an ordinance appropriating Five Hundred Thousand and 
00\100 Dollars ($500,000) from the ARP Coronavirus Local Fiscal Recovery Fund to the Negative 
Economic Impact Account the Homeowner-Occupied Property Rehabilitation Program 
PROPOSED ORDINANCE 21-O-49, an ordinance appropriating Three Hundred 
Twenty-Two Thousand Three Hundred and Fifty Dollars ($322,350.00) from the ARP 
Coronavirus Local Fiscal Recovery Fund to the Negative Economic Impact Account for 
the Elkhart Thrive Neighborhood Opportunity Hub Initiative 
PROPOSED ORDINANCE 21-O-67, an ordinance appropriating Four Million Two Hundred 
Thousand Dollars ($4,200,000.00) for the design other professional services for the new public 
safety facilities of the Elkhart Police Department and Elkhart Fire Department 
PROPOSED ORDINANCE 21-O-68-R, an ordinance appropriating One Million 
Dollars ($1,000,000.00) for land acquisition in connection with the new public safety 
facilities for the Elkhart Police Department and Elkhart Fire Department 

 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

2 

d) Tabled Ordinances and Resolutions       
PROPOSED ORDINANCE 21-O-57-R, an ordinance appropriating One Million Dollars 
($1,000,000) from the ARP Coronavirus Local Fiscal Recovery Fund to the Provision of 
Government Services Account for upgrades to the Lerner Theatre heating, ventilation and air 
conditioning system 
PROPOSED ORDINANCE 22-O-01, an ordinance annexing certain real estate 
commonly known as 25610 County Road 4, Elkhart County, Indiana and 52396 County 
Road 9, Elkhart County, Indiana and declaring the same to be a part of the City of 
Elkhart, Indiana (LD Elkhart IN Landlord, LLC, petitioner) 
 

 
5.       New Business 
 

a) Ordinances on First Reading        
                None 
 
b) Resolutions  
PROPOSED RESOLUTION 22-R-04, a resolution of the Common Council, of the City 
of Elkhart, Indiana, declaring a certain area to be an economic revitalization area for the 
purpose of granting tax phase-in benefits to Marson International LLC. 
PROPOSED RESOLUTION 22-R-05, a resolution of the Common Council of the         
City of Elkhart, Indiana, declaring a certain area to be an economic revitalization area       
for the purpose of granting tax phase-in benefits to Pontoonstuff, Inc.\MMM Realty          
LLC\Legacy Plastics LLC. 
 
           
c) Vacation Hearings         None  
            
d) Other New Business 

 
e) Reports of Mayor, Board of Works, Board of Safety or City Departments 

 
f) Neighborhood Association Reports 

 
g) Privilege of the Floor 

 
h) Scheduling of Committee Meetings 

 
6.       Acceptance of Communications 

 Minutes of January 18, 2022 Board of Public Works 
 Minutes of January 3, 2022 Plan Commission 
 American Rescue Plan Compliance Report 
 Budget Encumbrances from 2021 to 2022 
  
  
7.    Adjournment   



DRAFT 

 

MINUTES OF THE REGULAR COMMON COUNCIL MEETING 

OF JANUARY 10, 2022 

 

Present: Council President Arvis Dawson 

Council Members Kevin Bullard, Brent Curry, Aaron Mishler, Tonda Hines, Megan 

Baughman, Dwight Fish, David Henke  

    

Absent: Council Member Brian Thomas 

 

 This meeting was made available to the public electronically through WebEx and live-streamed 

on Facebook. All Council Members were present in Council Chambers.  

 

 President Dawson called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. in the Council Chambers at City Hall, 

229 S. Second Street, in Elkhart.   

 

 Councilman Bullard led the assembly in the Pledge of Allegiance and President Curry asked for 

a moment of silent reflection. 

  

 The clerk called the roll.   

 

Minutes for Approval 

 

 There were no minutes for approval. 

 

  

Presentations and Introductions 

 

 There were no presentations or introductions. 

 

 

UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

 

Reports of Council Committees 

  

 Councilman Henke reported that the AD-HOC committee discussed the proposed Ordinance 21-

O-29, which established rules for electronic meetings.  The committee suggested a few amendments to 

21-O-29 and the original Council Rules and gave a do-pass recommendation. Councilman Henke stated 

that Mr. Espar is going to create a whole new ordinance for Council Rules that includes said 

amendments.  President Dawson asked do you just want to keep it in committee?  Councilman Henke 

stated you may if you that is okay.   

 

 

Ordinances on Second-Third Reading 

 

 There were no ordinances on second-third reading.  

  



   

 

2 

 

 

Ordinances and Resolutions Referred to Committees:  

 

 Proposed Ordinance 21-O-29 

 

AN ORDINANCE ESTABLISHING THE RULES BY WHICH MEMBERS OF THE COMMON 

COUNCIL MAY PARTICIPATE BY ELECTRONIC MEANS OF COMMUNICATION 

 

 President Dawson stated proposed ordinance 21-O-29 remains in committee. 

 

Proposed Ordinance 21-O-46  
 

AN ORDINANCE APPROPRIATING FIVE HUNDRED THOUSAND AND 00\100 

DOLLARS ($500,000) FROM THE ARP CORONAVIRUS LOCAL FISCAL RECOVERY 

FUND TO THE NEGATIVE ECONOMIC IMPACT ACCOUNT FOR THE 

HOMEOWNER-OCCUPIED PROPERTY REHABILITATION PROGRAM 

 

President Dawson stated proposed ordinance 21-O-46 remains in committee. 

 

 

Proposed Ordinance 21-O-49 

 

AN ORDINANCE APPROPRIATING THREE HUNDRED TWENTY-TWO 

THOUSAND THREE HUNDRED AND FIFTY DOLLARS ($322,350.00) FROM 

THE ARP CORONAVIRUS LOCAL FISCAL RECOVERY FUND TO THE 

NEGATIVE ECONOMIC IMPACT ACCOUNT FOR THE ELKHART THRIVE 

NEIGHBORHOOD OPPORTUNITY HUB INITIATIVE 

 

President Dawson stated proposed ordinance 21-O-49 remains in committee. 

 

Proposed Ordinance 21-O-67 
 

AN ORDINANCE APPROPRIATING FOUR MILLION TWO HUNDRED THOUSAND 

DOLLARS ($4,200,000.00) FOR THE DESIGN OTHER PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 

FOR THE NEW PUBLIC SAFETY FACILITIES OF THE ELKHART POLICE 

DEPARTMENT AND ELKHART FIRE DEPARTMENT 

 

        President Dawson stated proposed ordinance 21-O-67 remains in committee.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



   

 

3 

 

Ordinances and Resolutions Referred to Committees Cont.:  

 

Proposed Ordinance 21-O-68-R 

 

AN ORDINANCE APPROPRIATING ONE MILLION DOLLARS ($1,000,000.00) 

FOR LAND ACQUISITION IN CONNECTION WITH THE NEW PUBLIC 

SAFETY FACILITIES FOR THE ELKHART POLICE DEPARTMENT AND 

ELKHART FIRE DEPARTMENT 

 

 President Dawson stated proposed ordinance, 21-O-68-R remains in committee.  

 

 

Tabled Ordinances and Resolutions 

 

Proposed Ordinance 21-O-57-R 

 

AN ORDINANCE APPROPRIATING ONE MILLION DOLLARS ($1,000,000.00) FROM 

THE ARP CORONAVIRUS LOCAL FISCAL RECOVERY FUND TO THE PROVISION 

OF GOVERNMENT SERVICES ACCOUNT FOR UPGRADES TO THE LERNER 

THEATRE HEATING, VENTILATION AND AIR CONDITIONING SYSTEM 

 

 President Dawson stated the proposed ordinance 21-O-57-R remains tabled. 

 

 

NEW BUSINESS 
 

Ordinances on First Reading 

Proposed Ordinance 22-O-01 

 

AN ORDINANCE ANNEXING CERTAIN REAL ESTATE COMMONLY 

KNOWN AS 25610 COUNTY ROAD 4, ELKHART COUNTY, INDIANA AND 

52396 COUNTY ROAD 9, ELKHART COUNTY, INDIANA AND DECLARING 

THE SAME TO BE A PART OF THE CITY OF ELKHART 

 

 The clerk read the proposed ordinance, 22-O-01, by title only.  President Dawson 

asked for motion to table until the next meeting to allow for legal publication for the 

public hearing.  Councilman Fish, seconded by Councilman Henke, moved to table, 

which motion carried unanimously 8-0, by voice vote, and the ordinance was tabled. 

 

 

 

 

 

 



   

 

4 

 

Ordinances on First Reading Cont.: 

 

Proposed Ordinance 22-O-02 

 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING § 157.019 OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF 

THE CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA RELATING TO THE TESTING OF 

APPLICANTS FOR AN ELECTRICAL CONTRACTOR LICENSE BY THE 

CITY OF ELKHART 

 

 The clerk read the proposed ordinance, 22-O-02 by title only.  President Dawson passed the 

proposed ordinance on from first reading to second reading. 

 

 

Resolutions 

 

Resolution #R-01-22 

 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA, 

ADOPTING A WRITTEN FISCAL PLAN TO DEFINE A POLICY FOR THE PROVISION OF 

SERVICES TO THE AREA COMMONLY KNOWN AS 25610 COUNTY ROAD 4, ELKHART 

COUNTY, INDIANA AND 52396 COUNTY ROAD 9, ELKHART COUNTY, INDIANA, A 

PROPOSED ANNEXATION AREA 

 

 The clerk read the proposed resolution, 22-R-01, by title only.  Councilman Mishler, seconded 

by Councilwoman Hines, moved to adopt the proposed resolution.  President Dawson opened the 

floor for council discussion.  Councilman Henke asked if the petitioner was the adjacent RV property 

owner. Eric Trotter, Assistant Director of Planning and Development stated I believe that is the case, 

yes.  Councilman Henke asked if it was going to be the same use and Eric Trotter stated yes it is a new 

service center, pre-delivery, inspection and distribution. Councilman Henke asked if the city has any 

obligation with street access, curb cut or any of those things. Eric Trotter stated that there is one curb cut 

off of County Road 9 and County Road 4 and they have not yet gone through tech review and are still 

working out their site and civil work at this point.   

 

 Councilman Henke asked who is excepted to pay for these curb cuts?  Eric Trotter stated that the 

petitioner will.  Councilman Fish asked for clarification that petitioner owns the property in question.  

The answer was yes.   

 

 There being no other council discussion, President Dawson opened the floor for public comment.   

 

 There being no public comments, President Dawson closed the public hearing and returned the 

comments to the council.  Seeing that there were no other comments from the council, President Dawson 

called for the vote on the adoption of the resolution and the roll call vote was as follows:  Ayes: Bullard, 

Curry, Mishler, Hines, Baughman, Fish, Henke and Dawson.  Nays: None.  The motion carried 

unanimously, by a roll call vote of 8-0, and the resolution was adopted. 

 



   

 

5 

 

Vacation Hearings 
 

 There were no vacation hearings. 

 

Other New Business 
 

APPOINTMENTS: 

 

ELKHART COUNTY ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT COMMISSION: James Gardner is the 

current council appointment and would like to serve again.  Councilman Fish, seconded by Councilman 

Mishler, motion carried unanimously 8-0, by voice vote.   

  

URBAN ENTERPRISE ASSOCIATION: The council has three appointments, one need to be a 

business representative in the zone, one member that is a zone resident and is a Republican, and one 

member that is a zone resident that is a Democrat.  The term for this is four years.  Bill Lavery is the 

current business representative and would like to serve again.  Councilman Curry, seconded by 

Councilman Mishler, motion carried unanimously 8-0, by voice vote. 

 

Therese Geise is the current zone resident Republican and she has stated that she would like to serve 

again.  Councilman Mishler, seconded by Councilman Bullard, motion carried unanimously 8-0, by 

voice vote.  

 

Natasha Kauffman is the current Democrat zone resident, however, the board reports that she has not 

been attending meeting and we cannot get a hold of her.  President Dawson asked if anyone has 

someone else that they would like to nominate that is a Democrat.  He would like whomever we 

nominate to agree to it first.  Seeing that there is no nomination at this time, President Dawson stated 

that he will leave this appointment open.  Councilman Bullard stated that to reassure that the nominee is 

actually Democrat or Republican, they actually have to have voted in a primary, so we will check into 

that?  President Dawson stated yes, the party chair does that for us.   

 

REDEVELOPMENT COMMISSION:  The council has two appointments.  Wes Steffen has indicated 

that he would like to serve again.  Councilman Henke, seconded by Councilman Bullard, motion 

carried unanimously 8-0, by voice vote.   

 

Kurt Bullard has stated that he can no longer serve.  President Dawson sent out the resume for Dina 

Harris.  Miss Harris has indicated that she would like to serve.  Councilman Fish, seconded by 

Councilwoman Hines, motion carried unanimously 8-0, by a voice vote. 

 

CITY ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT COMMISSION:  Brent Curry is the current council 

appointment.  Councilman Fish, seconded by Councilwoman Hines, motion carried unanimously 8-0, 

by a voice vote.   

 

 

 

 

 



   

 

6 

 

PLAN COMMISSION: Kevin Bullard is the current council appointment and he has indicated that he 

would like to serve again.  President Dawson would like to appoint Aaron Mishler.  Councilman Fish, 

seconded by Councilwoman Hines. President Dawson asked for a roll call vote.  Clerk of the Council 

asked for two different roll call votes, the first one for Aaron Mishler. Ayes: Curry, Mishler, Hines, Fish, 

Dawson Nays: Bullard, Baughman, Henke  

Motion carries 5-3 

 

 Councilman Henke referred to the Board of Aviation commissioners meeting of November 24th, 

areas of concern for Mr. Tracy to take back, the Coachmen hangar renovations, they talked about a 

return on investment and it was approved, however, there were no estimates and no dollar values 

submitted.  The manager’s report, even though the council approved new mowers two years ago, they 

did approve their own use of ARP money for lawnmowers, remote control lawnmowers to be more 

specific, so that was very disappointing.  There was a concern brought about regarding crossing guards 

on Jeanwood Drive.  It was the Director of Safety for the school that deleted a crossing guard at that 

spot.  So as families looked at the city and the school principal somewhat pointed the finger at the city, it 

was, in fact, the school that made that decision.  I do have a meeting with Dana and Ryan in regards to 

parking cars, parked in tree lawns and yards and how we can better manage that process. It has been 

some time ago, and I have put it in writing as well, to get an update on ambulance billing, the data of 

collections to date and the trend report.  This is an area that we cannot overlook.  We are under 

collecting $450,000 a year and this has been years.  We are talking 3 to 4 million and we do not have a 

handle. We are also by ordinance supposed to be looking at the prevailing rate every year and we have 

not done that for 20 or 21, so those need to be on the books.   

 

 Councilman Mishler stated that he also had received emails regarding the crossing guard 

situation, and I hope that our friends and partners at the Elkhart Community School system can continue 

to address that and make sure that our kids are safe and taken care of.  I have had a few folks reach out 

to me concerned about vehicles parked in tree lawns along Sunset and Modrell area and would like it to 

be addressed.  I believe that is a code situation. So if we could have someone take a look at that when we 

get a chance.  Our hospitals continue to struggle through this current surge.  So I encourage folks to 

continue to mask up and if you are vaccinated to get a booster.  If you have questions about it, please 

speak to your primary care provider.   

 

 Councilman Bullard, I have two things.  As I was coming into town and saw this really nice 

snow removal hog going down the road, this is more of a reach out to Mike Lightner, that this $200,000 

some odd dollar unit, had really poor emergency flashing lights on it.  I have seen Amish buggies with 

LED’s and flashing lights that are more visible.  That might be something as far as the limit liability that 

if we are going to be on the streets that it has a little better lighting. It had a slow moving sign on it and 

some flashing lights but we have to make sure that we protect ourselves on that.  And the second thing, I 

am going to direct this to Corrine.  The same three easy scooters behind Hopman’s, are still there in the 

exact same spot they were the week before the last city council meeting and they are still there.  These 

things are just littering and I know that you said they reduced the numbers but they are not picking them 

up.  If you could just reach out and say hey, you know they are not doing what they promised. I would 

be glad to go through for 39 cents a mile, pick them up and I will deposit them wherever Bradley Tracy 

tells me to put them.     

 

 



   

 

7 

 

 President Dawson asked Corrine to provide the council with the contact information, then maybe 

individually they can contact them and let them know where they are at as there are some downtown that 

have been there a while.   

 

 Councilman Fish agreed with Councilman Henke and Councilman Mishler regarding the parking 

problem but stated that it is across the city.  The greater conversation to consider is that we do not have a 

state law that dictates how many people can live in a house.  He stated that he has a situation just a few 

doors down from him where four people live in a habitat home. I know we can do ordinances, but there 

may be blowback, that we need to talk about where do people park where they live, so we cannot dictate 

that.  President Dawson stated that no, it is dictated by ordinances that you cannot park on the tree lawn.  

These houses were built some 60, 70 years ago and everybody only had one car, now, everybody has 

three cars.  Councilman Henke stated that it is about sprawl, because in areas where there use to not be 

an issue, there is an issue. If this goes unchecked, we are going to have more of the same.  These are 

areas that have driveways, street parking and garages, it is just that every one of them want to park by 

the door.  I call in to 311 and I am averaging seven a week.  We are just spinning wheels if we are not 

making progress on these reported areas.  Councilman Fish stated that he is not endorsing parking in our 

tree lawns at all, I am against it.  But we are going to have blowback because we have a potentially over 

worked enforcement division.  

 

 

Reports of the Mayor, Board of Works, Board of Safety or City Department Heads  
 

 Corinne Straight, Director of Communication, sent this council meetings newsletter last week. 

Just a couple of updates, this morning, we got to do a very fun groundbreaking in the snow out at the 

wastewater treatment plant.  Phase two of expansion is underway, so we had a nice ceremony out there 

off of Nappanee Street today.  The small business program a week after you passed it is going really 

well and has been received very well. We have received eleven applications and many more inquiries 

about the process and how to apply.   

 

 President Dawson was asked by the mayor to acknowledge that he was down in Indy, and he will 

be speaking before the house tomorrow on a proposed bill.   

 

 Bradley Tracy, Chief of Staff, also stated that the mayor was not present tonight as he was in 

Indianapolis preparing to testify tomorrow on Senate Bill 378 that is by Senator Rogers from up here 

and it is a personal business property tax deduction.  This is a different bill than Senate Bill 102 so he 

will be going back and working closely with AIM to make sure that this is replaced with something.  We 

are just asking that whatever they take away from us, that they replace it with some other funds.  I will 

keep the council posted as this goes on. 

   

 

Neighborhood Association Reports 

 

Councilman Curry for the Pierre Moran Neighborhood Association, stated that they had another good 

meeting yesterday at the Pierre Moran pavilion.  They discussed some issues going on and one issue 

they have is some kids are going around late at night and knocking on people’s doors.  So they are 

working with the police on that. There are plenty of cameras around the neighborhood and they have 



   

 

8 

 

pictures of the kids, they just need to figure out who they are and ask them not to do that anymore.  They 

normally have an annual potluck dinner to pull all of the neighbors together but with COVID they are 

wondering if they should still do that.  So they are going to try for March and it was suggested to have 

people serve the food instead of people serving themselves.  They will make a decision at their February 

6th meeting.  Our neighborhood has changed a lot over the years and we have a lot of new residents and 

we are just trying to make an effort to come together and address the issues in our neighborhood.   

 

  

Privilege of the Floor 

 

 There were no comments during privilege of the floor. 

 

Scheduling of Committee Meetings 

 

 No committee meeting scheduled at this time.   

 

Acceptance of Communications 

 

Minutes of November 24, 2021 Board of Aviation Commissioners Meeting 

Minutes of December 9, 2021 Special Call Meeting of the Board of Aviation Commissioners 

Minutes of December 28, 2021 Board of Public Works Meeting 

Minutes of December 6, 2021 Plan Commission Meeting 

Report of Communications Center for November 2021 

Report of Communications Center for December 2021 

 

 Councilman Henke, seconded by Councilman Mishler, moved to accept communications, 

which motion carried, by voice vote, and the communications were accepted. 

 

Adjournment 

 

 Councilwoman Hines, seconded by Councilman Fish, moved for adjournment, which motion 

carried unanimously, by voice vote, and the meeting was adjourned. 

 

 

 

______________________________  ______________________________ 

Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk    Arvis Dawson  

       President of the Elkhart City Council 



Proposed Ordinance No. 22-O-03 

Page 1 of 1 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

M E M O R A N D U M  
 
DATE:  February 3, 2022 
 
TO:  Common Council 
    
FROM: Corporation Counsel John Espar 
 
RE:  Proposed Ordinance No. 22-O-03 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA, AMENDING 

ORDINANCE NO. 4099, “AN ORDINANCE AMENDING ORDINANCE NO. 3116, ESTABLISHING 

THE RULES AND REGULATIONS FOR THE GOVERNMENT OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA AND ITS MEMBERS” AND ESTABLISHING RULES FOR COUNCIL 

MEMBERS TO PARTICIPATE IN COUNCIL MEETINGS BY MEANS OF ELECTRONIC 

COMMUNICATION 
 

 

Proposed Ordinance No. 22-O-03 is the result of the Ad Hoc Committee of the Council convened to 
evaluate amendments to the rules and regulations for the governance of the Council, including the 
codification of the policy previously adopted by the Council for the participation of its members in the 
meetings of the Council as authorized by recent state legislation.  

Attached to this memorandum are a series of documents provided to you to illustrate the changes that were 
approved by the committee, placed in the context of current law and in the case of the proposed provision 
relating to electronic participation, the previously introduced ordinance, 21-O-29, which has been 
incorporated into this new proposed ordinance 22-O-03.  

I have recommended two minor amendments to clarify existing law. Those changes are noted with 
explanation.  



 
Page 1 of 7 

 

Proposed Ordinance No. 22-O-03 
 
 

ORDINANCE NO.  ___________ 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, 
INDIANA, AMENDING ORDINANCE NO. 4099, “AN ORDINANCE AMENDING 

ORDINANCE NO. 3116, ESTABLISHING THE RULES AND REGULATIONS FOR 
THE GOVERNMENT OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, 

INDIANA AND ITS MEMBERS” AND ESTABLISHING RULES FOR COUNCIL 
MEMBERS TO PARTICIPATE IN COUNCIL MEETINGS BY MEANS OF 

ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATION 
 

 

WHEREAS, On July 7, 1979, the Common Council of the City of Elkhart, Indiana 

(“Council”) adopted Ordinance No. 3116, which establishes the rules and regulations for the 

governance of the Council and its members; and 

WHEREAS, Ordinance No. 3116 was amended by Ordinance No. 4099 on January 25, 

1993; and 

WHEREAS, the Council desires and intends to make limited amendments to Ordinance 

No. 4099, and intends to incorporate additional provisions to establish the rules by which members 

of the Common Council may participate in meetings of the Council by means of electronic 

communication; and 

WHEREAS, the many ordinances adopted by the Common Council of the City of Elkhart, 

Indiana are compiled, codified, and published by American Legal Publishing Corporation, under 

an organizational scheme which designates related content in associated titles, chapters, 

subchapters of the publication of ordigances; and  

WHEREAS, the rules and regulations for the governance of the Common Council are 

organized under Title III, Chapter 30, Subchapters 30.01 through 30.17 of the Code of Ordinances 



 
Page 2 of 7 

 

of the City of Elkhart, Indiana, which provides clarity to those provisions being amended and 

added by this ordinance:  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA, THAT: 

Section 1. Ordinance 4099 of the City of Elkhart, also known as Subchapter 30.11(B)(6) of the 

Code of Ordinances of the City of Elkhart, Indiana, is amended and shall hereafter read as follows:  

§ 30.11  PRESIDENT; VICE-PRESIDENT. 
   … 

(B)   The President shall: 
(6) Appoint Council members to commissions, boards, departments and other 

agencies of the city, county or other entity when a member from the Council 
or other person is required or authorized to be appointed by the Council to 
such commission, board, department or other agency pursuant to city 
ordinance, county ordinance, state statute or other lawful authority.  
(a) An appointment log of all such appointments shall be maintained by 

the Office of the City Clerk and shall be available to the Council and 
the Deputy Clerk of the Council; 

(b) The appointment log shall include the most-recent appointment by the 
Council and the expiration date of each appointee’s term; 

(c) The Deputy Clerk of the Council shall notify the Council of any 
vacancies requiring appointment by the Council. 
… 
 

Section 2. Except as modified in Section 1 above, all other sections of Subchapter 

30.11 of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Elkhart, Indiana, remains unchanged and fully 

effective. 

Section 3. Ordinance 4099 of the City of Elkhart, also known as, Subchapter 30.13(D) and 

Subchapter 30.13(E) of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Elkhart, Indiana, are amended and 

shall hereafter read as follows:  

§ 30.13  DECORUM AND DEBATE. 
… 



 
Page 3 of 7 

 

(D) Whenever a Council member has or is likely to have a substantial conflict of 
interest in connection with a matter pending before the Council, he or she shall 
disclose fully the nature of his or her conflict of interest and may thereafter, in the 
judgment of the Council member, either: 
(1) disqualify himself or herself from further action on the matter; or 
(2) continue to participate in the deliberations and to vote on the matter. 

(E) Notwithstanding § (D) above, whenever a Council member has or is likely to have 
a private financial interest in connection with any official matter pending before 
the Council, he or she shall disqualify himself or herself from further 
participation in the proceeding. 

… 
 

Section 4. Except as modified in Section 3 above, all other sections of Subchapter 

30.13 of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Elkhart, Indiana, remains unchanged and fully 

effective. 

Section 5. Ordinance 4099 of the City of Elkhart, also known as Subchapter 30.14(G) 

of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Elkhart, Indiana, is amended to read as follows:  

§ 30.14  DECORUM AND DEBATE. 
… 

(G)   When a question is under debate, no motion shall be received, but to adjourn, 
to lay on the table, for the previous questions (which motion shall be decided 
without debate), to postpone to a day certain, to refer, to amend or to postpone 
indefinitely, which several motions shall have preference in the order in which they 
are here arranged. 
      (1) The motion to adjourn and the motion to fix a time to which the Council 
shall adjourn shall always be in order, the latter motion taking precedence of the 
former. 
      (2) The motion to lay an amendment on the table shall not affect the main 
question which it is proposed to amend. 
      (3) The previous question shall be put in this form:  “I move for the main 
question.”  It shall only be granted when demanded by a two-thirds (2/3) vote of 
the Council; and its effect shall be to put an end to all debate, and until decided, 
shall preclude all other motions or amendments, except the motion to adjourn.  If 
the motion is sustained, the Presiding Officer shall at once put the question, first 
on pending amendments and then on the main questions. 

… 



 
Page 4 of 7 

 

Section 6. Except as modified in Section 5 above, all other sections of Subchapter 

30.14 of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Elkhart, Indiana, remains unchanged and fully 

effective. 

Section 7. A new Subchapter 30.18 shall be added to Title III, Chapter 30 of the Code 

of Ordinances of the City of Elkhart which shall read as follows:  

§ 30.18  PARTICIPATION IN MEETINGS OF THE COUNCIL BY MEANS OF 
ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATION. 
 
(A) Incorporation of State Law. The provisions of Indiana Code 5-14-1.5-1 et seq. 

(Act), including definitions, apply to this ordinance. 
(B) Electronic Meetings Ordinance. This ordinance shall be known as the 

“Electronic Meetings Ordinance” of the Council and applies to the Council 
and any committee appointed directly by the Council or its presiding officer. 

(C) Participation by Mean of Electronic Communication. Subject to Sections (F) 
and (H) of this ordinance, any member may participate in a meeting by any 
electronic means of communication that:  

(1) allows all participating members of the governing body to simultaneously 
communicate with each other; and 

(2) other than a meeting that is an executive session, allows the public to 
simultaneously attend and observe the meeting. 

(D) Quorum and Voting. A member who participates by an electronic means of 
communication:  

(1) shall be considered present for purposes of establishing a quorum; and  
(2) may participate in final action only if the member can be seen and heard. 

(E) Application of Policy. All votes taken during a meeting at which at least one 
(1) member participates by an electronic means of communication must be 
taken by roll call vote. 

(F) Limitations on Participation by Electronic Means of Communication. 
(1) At least fifty percent (50%) of the members must be physically present at a 

meeting at which a member will participate by means of electronic 
communication; 

(2) Not more than fifty percent (50%) of the members may participate by an 
electronic means of communication at that same meeting. 

(3) A member may not attend more than a fifty percent (50%) of the meetings 
in a calendar year by an electronic means of communication, unless the 
member’s electronic participation is due to: 



 
Page 5 of 7 

 

(a)  military service; 
(b)  illness or other medical condition; 
(c)  death of a relative; or  
(d) an emergency involving actual or threatened injury to persons or 

property. 
(4) A member may attend two (2) consecutive meetings (a set of meetings) by 

electronic communication. 
(5) A member must attend in person at least one (1) meeting between sets of 

meetings that the member attends by electronic communication, unless the 
member’s absence is due to: 
(a) military service; 
(b) illness or other medical condition; 
(c) death of a relative; or  
(d) an emergency involving actual or threatened injury to persons or 

property. 
(G) Minutes of Meeting. The minutes or memoranda of a meeting at which any 

member participates by electronic means of communication must: 
(1) identify each member who: 

(a) was physically present at the meeting; 
(b) participated in the meeting by electronic means of communication; 

and 
(c) was absent; and  

(2) identify the electronic means of communication by which: 
(a) members participated in the meeting; and 
(b)  members of the public attended and observed the meeting, if the 

meeting was not an executive session. 
(H) Prohibited Actions. No member of the Council may participate by means of 
electronic communication in a meeting at which the Council may take final action 
to: 

(1) adopt a budget; 
(2) make a reduction in personnel; 
(3) initiate a referendum; 
(4) impose or increase a fee; 
(5) impose or increase a penalty; 
(6) exercise the Council’s power of eminent domain; or 
(7) establish, impose, raise or renew a tax. 



 
Page 6 of 7 

 

(I) Emergency Declarations. If an emergency is declared by (1) the governor 
under IC 10-14-3-12 or (2) the mayor under IC 10-14-3-29: 

(1) members are not required to be physically present for a meeting until the 
emergency is terminated; and  

(2) Members may participate in a meeting by any means of communication, 
provided that: 
(a) At least a quorum of the members participate in the meeting by means 

of electronic communication or in person; 
(b) The public may simultaneously attend and observe the meeting unless 

the meeting is an executive session; 
(c) The minutes or memoranda of the meeting must comply with Section 

(G) of this ordinance; and  
(d) All votes taken during a meeting at which at least one member 

participates by an electronic means of communication must be taken 
by roll call vote. 

Section 8. This Ordinance shall be in effect from and after its passage by the Common Council 

and approval by the Mayor according to law. 

[Signature page to follow] 

  



 
Page 7 of 7 

 

 

SO ORDAINED this    day of    ,   . 

 
____________________________________ 
Arvis Dawson 

     President of the Common Council 
ATTEST: 
 
______________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 
 
 
 PRESENTED to the Mayor by me this ________ day of ___________, _______, at  

  a.m./p.m. 

      _____________________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 
 

 
 APPROVED by me this _______ day of ________________, ______. 
 

 
_____________________________________ 
Rod Roberson, Mayor 

ATTEST: 
 
______________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 



 
§ 30.11  PRESIDENT; VICE-PRESIDENT. 
   (A)   The President of the Council shall preside over all regular and special meetings of the 
Council.  The President shall call the Council to order at the hour for the opening of the 
meetings and on the appearance of a quorum.  The President shall have the right to vote on 
all matters, but shall not advocate a position on an issue before the Council without first 
taking leave of the chair.  In the event the President chooses to take leave of the chair, the 
Vice-President shall temporarily take the chair until the President concludes his or her 
discussion. 
   (B)   The President shall: 
      (1)   Preserve strict order and decorum; 
      (2)   Decide all questions of order and his or her decisions shall be final unless appeals 
are taken to the Council; an appeal of the decision of the President or the Vice-President 
shall be taken as follows: 
         (a)   The Council member shall indicate he or she is appealing the decision; 
         (b)   The Council member shall state his or her grounds for the appeal; and 
         (c)   The Council shall vote on the member’s appeal.  If the appeal passes by a majority 
vote of the Council, the President’s decision shall be overruled. 
      (3)   Appoint all standing committees at the first meeting in January or as soon 
thereafter as possible; however, the standing committees shall serve only during the term 
of the appointing President; 
      (4)   Appoint all special committees which may be ordered by the Council; 
      (5)   Fill all temporary and permanent vacancies which may occur in any of the standing 
or special committees; 
      (6)   Appoint Council members to commissions, boards, departments and other agencies 
of the city, county or other entity when a member from the Council or other person is 
required or authorized to be appointed by the Council to such commission, board, 
department or other agency pursuant to city ordinance, county ordinance, state statute or 
other lawful authority;  (The commissions and boards shall include, but not be limited to 
the county’s Solid Waste Management District Board, city’s Plan Commission and the city’s 
Traffic Commission.  All appointments by the President to such commissions, boards, 
departments and other agencies that were made prior to January 25, 1993, are hereby 
authorized, ratified and confirmed.) 

(a)  An appointment log of all such appointments shall be maintained by the Office 
of the City Clerk and shall be available to the Council and the Deputy Clerk of the 
Council; 

(b) The appointment log shall include the most-recent appointment by the Council 
and the expiration date of each appointee’s term; 

(c) The Deputy Clerk of the Council shall notify the Council of any vacancies 
requiring appointment by the Council. 

      (7)   Sign  all  ordinances  and  resolutions adopted by the Council prior to their 
presentation to the Mayor as well as all ordinances after enrollment, and the journal of the 
proceedings; and 

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style:
a, b, c, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 
0.5" + Indent at:  0.75"



      (8)   Exercise any power or perform any function proper and necessary for the effective 
and efficient operation of the office. 
   (C)   It shall be the prerogative of the President to assign an ordinance, resolution or other 
document, either to committee or first reading of the ordinance. 
   (D)   The Vice-President shall possess the powers and perform the duties of the President 
of the Council when the President is absent.  When a vacancy occurs in the office of the 
President, the Vice-President shall assume the office of the President of the Council  and the 
Council shall elect a new Vice-President for the remainder of the term. 
(1979 Code, § 30.11)  (Ord. 3116, passed 7-2-1979; Am. Ord. 4099, passed 1-25-1993) 



 
§ 30.13  DECORUM AND DEBATE. 
   (A)   The Presiding Officer shall preserve order and decorum at all Council meetings. 
   (B)   Each member of the Council shall be present within the Council chamber during the 
sessions of the Council, unless excused or necessarily prevented from being present, and 
shall vote on each question put unless excused from voting by a majority of the Council 
members present.   
   (C)   A Council member shall not vote, or take any other discretionary action in his or her 
official capacity, except in the exercise of his or her own independent judgment, reached 
after due regard for the collective interest of his or her constituency as a whole, and of the 
citizens and the community of the city.  The prohibition in this section extends to any 
agreement to take action in violation of this section and to any effort to induce other 
Council members to violate it. 
   (D)   Whenever a Council member has or is likely to have a substantial conflict of interest 
in connection with a matter pending before the Council, he or she shall disclose fully the 
nature of his or her conflict of interest and may thereafter, in the judgment of the Council 
member, either: 
      (1)    dDisqualify himself or herself from further action on the matter, in which event he 
or she need not disclose the reason for his or her disqualification; or 
      (2)   Disclose fully the nature of his or her conflict of interest, in which event he or she 
may continue to participate in the deliberations and to vote on the matter. 
   (E)   Notwithstanding, § (D) above, wWhenever a Council member has or is likely to have 
a private financial interest in connection with any official matter pending before the 
Council, he or she shall disqualify himself or herself from further participation in the 
proceeding. 
   (F)   A Council member shall not derive or attempt to derive any unjustified enrichment 
from his or her office.  This division forbids: 
      (1)   The solicitation or acceptance of any bribe, gift or other material economic benefit, 
or of any promise of similar benefit, which he or she believed or reasonably should believe 
was intended to influence; 
      (2)   The solicitation or acceptance of any gift or other economic benefit conferred 
because of any vote or other action in his or her official capacity already taken by him or 
her; 
      (3)   The acquisition or use for personal purposes of any property, services or funds of 
the city, unless authorized by law; and/or 
      (4)   The use for personal gain of information pertaining to the city which is not a matter 
of public record, at a time when it is treated as confidential by the officials of the city. 
   (G)   When any member is about to speak or deliver any matter to the Council, he or she 
shall respectfully address himself or herself to the Presiding Officer, and on being 
recognized, confine himself or herself to the question in debate and avoid personality.  The 
Presiding Officer shall not recognize any member as in order, unless he or she is in his or 
her proper seat.   
   (H)   When 2 or more Council members seek recognition at once, the Presiding Officer 
shall name the member entitled to speak.   

Commented [EJ1]: This amendment is presented 
differently in the proposed ordinance that was discuss 
and proposed at the ad hoc committee meeting. It is 
recommended by Corporation Counsel that the phrase “in 
the judgment of the Council member” be added was not 
discussed at the meeting of the ad hoc committee 

Commented [EJ2]: This amendment is being 
recommended by Corporation Counsel to distinguish “a 
private financial interest” described in this section (E) 
from the “conflict of interest” described in section (D). 
Otherwise sections (E) and (D) would contradict each 
other. 



   (I)   No Council member shall speak more than twice on the same question without leave 
of the Council, nor more than once until every Council member choosing to speak has 
spoken. 
   (J)   While the Presiding Officer or a Council member is addressing the Council, no Council 
member shall walk out of or across the Council chamber or engage in private discourse.   
   (K)   No Council member shall inpugn a motive of another.   
   (L)   Any Council member may change his or her vote before the announcement of the 
result by the Presiding Officer. 
   (M)   If any Council member, in speaking or otherwise, shall transgress the rules of the 
Council, the Presiding Officer shall, or any Council member may, call him or her to order, in 
which case he or she shall immediately cease the transgression unless permitted, on 
motion of another Council member, to explain;  and the Council shall, if appealed to, decide 
the case without debate.  If the decision is in favor of the Council member called to order, 
he or she shall be at liberty to proceed, but not otherwise, and if the case requires it, he or 
she shall be liable to the censure of the Council. 
   (N)   Should any Council member, in the course of his or her remarks violate a second 
time any rule of the Council, and again be called to order, he or she shall not speak further 
on the pending question, except by permission of 2/3 of the Council members present. 
   (O)   Each Council member shall observe the highest standards of dignity, propriety, 
courtesy, respect and decorum when with his or her fellow Council members, officers and 
employees of the city, and all other persons, and when carrying out any of the 
responsibilities, duties and services mandated by the office of a Council member. 
(1979 Code, § 30.13)  (Ord. 3116, passed 7-2-1979; Am. Ord. 4099, passed 1-25-1993) 



 
§ 30.14  PARLIAMENTARY PROCEDURE. 
   (A)   The most recent edition of Robert’s Rules of Order, newly revised, shall be the 
authority on all questions of parliamentary law and procedure not specifically covered by 
this subchapter.  For the purposes of this subchapter, parliamentary law shall mean the 
enacted rules and recognized usages which govern the procedure of legislative assemblies. 
   (B)   It shall require a majority vote of 5 of the 9 Council members, to pass an ordinance or 
resolution.  Whenever by law it is required that any ordinance or resolution shall be passed 
by a 2/3 vote, the requirement shall be construed to mean a 2/3 vote of all Council 
members; i.e., 6 of the 9 members.  Whenever by law it is required that any ordinance or 
resolution shall be passed by a 3/4 vote, the requirement shall be construed to mean a 3/4 
vote of all Council members; i.e., 7 of the 9 members. 
   (C)   No one not a member of Council shall be permitted to address the Council except on 
invitation by the Presiding Officer or by a majority vote of the Council. 
   (D)   No ordinance or resolution shall be received or considered by the Council unless it is 
presented by some member thereof or as provided by law.  Every motion made by any 
member of the Council and entertained by the Presiding Officer shall be reduced to writing 
on the demand of any Council member.  When a motion has been made, the Presiding 
Officer shall state it, and it shall then be in the possession of the Council, but may be 
withdrawn at any time before a decision or amendment. 
   (E)   When, in order to enact an ordinance, resolution or motion, state law requires a 
majority of the Council to vote “aye”, the following procedures shall be applicable in 
calculating the majority. 
      (1)   Only Council members who have disqualified themselves on a matter due to a 
substantial conflict of interest or have disclosed fully the nature of their conflict of interest 
pursuant to the provisions of this chapter are entitled to an abstention. 
      (2)   Absentations shall not be counted as either an “aye” or “nay” vote. 
   (F)   The Presiding Officer shall decide whether any question is carried by an affirmative 
or a negative vote, but if he or she is in doubt, a roll call vote shall be asked for. 
   (G)   When a question is under debate, no motion shall be received, but to adjourn, to lay 
on the table, for the previous questions (which motion shall be decided without debate), to 
postpone to a day certain, to refer, to amend or to postpone indefinitely, which several 
motions shall have preference in the order in which they are here arranged. 
      (1)   The motion to adjourn and the motion to fix a time to which the Council shall 
adjourn shall always be in order, the latter motion taking precedence of the former. 
      (2)   The motion to lay an amendment on the table shall not affect the main question 
which it is proposed to amend. 
      (3)   The previous question shall be put in this form:  “I move for the main question.”  It 
shall only be granted when demanded by a majority of the Council members present,two-
thirds (2/3) vote of the Council; and its effect shall be to put an end to all debate, and until 
decided, shall preclude all other motions or amendments, except the motion to adjourn.  If 
the motion is sustained, the Presiding Officer shall at once put the question, first on 
pending amendments and then on the main questions. 
      (4)   The motion to postpone to a day certain can be amended by altering the time. 



      (5)   The motion to commit may be amended by altering the committee or by giving 
instructions. 
      (6)   A motion to amend and a motion to amend that amendment shall be in order, and it 
shall also be in order to offer a further amendment by way of substitute to which 1 
amendment may be offered, but neither may be withdrawn before amendment or decision 
is had thereon. 
      (7)   No motion or proposition postponed indefinitely shall be taken up again at the 
same or next succeeding meeting. 
      (8)   A question shall be divided on the demand of any Council member, if it includes 2 
or more distinct propositions. 
      (9)   A motion to strike out and insert shall be indivisible, but a motion to strike out 
being lost shall neither preclude amendment nor motion to strike out and insert, and no 
consideration shall be submitted under color of amendment. 
      (10)   When a motion has been made and carried or lost, it shall be in order for any 
member of the majority at the same or the next regular meeting, to move for the 
reconsideration thereof.  Such a motion on being made may be seconded by any Council 
member and may be made at any time.  It shall be debatable and requires a majority vote to 
prevail. 
   (H)   When a resolution is offered or a report or other matter presented, the Presiding 
Officer may take the reception thereof for granted, unless objection is made, when a formal 
motion shall be required. 
   (I)   Appeals, questions of order, objection to the consideration of a question, the reading 
of papers, leave to withdraw a motion and suspension of the rules are questions which 
shall take precedence of and be decided before the question which gave rise to them; which 
several questions cannot be amended, and all questions of order which may arise pending a 
question is not debatable must be decided without debate. 
(1979 Code, § 30.14)  (Ord. 3116, passed 7-2-1979; Am. Ord. 4099, passed 1-25-1993 ) 



Page 1 of 6 
 

 
Proposed Ordinance No. 21-O-29-R 

 
ORDINANCE NO. ________ 

 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING ORDINANCE NO. 4099, “AN ORDINANCE 
AMENDING ORDINANCE NO. 3116, ESTABLISHING THE RULES AND 

REGULATIONS FOR THE GOVERNMENT OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE 
CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA AND ITS MEMBERS” BYAN ORDINANCE 

ESTABLISHING THE RULES BY WHICH MEMBERS OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 
MAY PARTICIPATE BY ELECTRONIC MEANS OF COMMUNICATION 

______________________________________ 
 

WHEREAS, On July 7, 1979, the Common Council of the City of Elkhart, Indiana 

(“Council”) adopted Ordinance No. 3116, which establishes the rules and regulations for the 

government of the Council and its members; and 

WHEREAS, Ordinance No. 3116 was amended by Ordinance No. 4099 on January 25, 

1993; and 

WHEREAS, the Council desires to amend Ordinance No. 4099, SECTION    

thereof, to establish the rules by which members of the Common Council may participate by 

electronic means of communication; and 

WHEREAS, P.L. 88-2021 (HEA 1437), SEC. 5, amended Indiana Code 5-14-1.5-1 et seq. 

(Act), by amending IC 5-14-1.5-3.5 to prescribe new requirements by which members of a 

governing body of a public agency of a political subdivision may participate in a meeting by 

electronic means of communication; 

WHEREAS, a member of a governing body may participate by any means of 

communication that: 

(a) Allows all participating members of the governing body to simultaneously 

communicate with each other; and 

(b) Except for a meeting that is an executive session, allows the public to 

Commented [A1]: I’m not sure what section 
would fit best here, or if we just create a 
whole new section, which may be the easiest 
 

Formatted: Font: Not Bold



Page 2 of 6 
 

simultaneously attend and observe the meeting; 

WHEREAS, the Act requires the governing body to adopt a written policy establishing 

the procedures that apply to a member’s participation in a meeting by an electronic means of 

communication and may adopt procedures that are more restrictive than the procedures established 

by IC 5-14-1.5-3.5(d); and 

WHEREAS, the Common Council (Council) is the governing body of the City of Elkhart, 

Indiana; and 

WHEREAS, the Council heretofore has adopted rules and regulations under the §§ 30.01 

through 30.17 of Title III of the Code of Ordinances of the Ccity of Elkhart for the governance of 

the Council of the city and of its Council members. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED ORDAINED BY THE COMMON 

COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA: 

Section 1. Incorporation of State Law. The provisions of Indiana Code 5-14-1.5-1 et seq. 

(Act), including definitions, apply to this ordinance. 

Section 2. Electronic Meetings Ordinance. This ordinance shall be known as the 

“Electronic Meetings Ordinance” of the Council and applies to the Council and any committee 

appointed directly by the Council or its presiding officer. 

Section 3.  Participation by Mean of Electronic Communication. Subject to Sections 6 

and 8, any member may participate in a meeting by any electronic means of communication that:  

(a) allows all participating members of the governing body to simultaneously 

communicate with each other; and 

(b) other than a meeting that is an executive session, allows the public to 

simultaneously attend and observe the meeting. 



Page 3 of 6 
 

Section 4.  Quorum and Voting. A member who participates by an electronic means of 

communication:  

(a) shall be considered present for purposes of establishing a quorum; and  

(b) may participate in final action only if the member can be seen and heard. 

Section 5.  Application of Policy. All votes taken during a meeting at which at least one 

(1) member participates by an electronic means of communication must be taken by roll call vote. 

Section 6. Limitations on Participation by Electronic Means of Communication. 

(a) At least fifty percent (50%) of the members must be physically present at a meeting 

at which a member will participate by means of electronic communication; 

(b) Not more than fifty percent (50%) of the members may participate by an electronic 

means of communication at that same meeting. 

(c) A member may not attend more than a fifty percent (50%) of the meetings in a 

calendar year by an electronic means of communication, unless the member’s 

electronic participation is due to: 

 (1) military service; 

 (2) illness or other medical condition; 

 (3) death of a relative; or  

 (4) an emergency involving actual or threatened injury to persons or property. 

(d) A member may attend two (2) consecutive meetings (a set of meetings) by 

electronic communication.  

(e) A member must attend in person at least one (1) meeting between sets of meetings 

that the member attends by electronic communication, unless the member’s 

absence is due to: 



Page 4 of 6 
 

(1) military service; 

(2) illness or other medical condition; 

(3) death of a relative; or  

(4) an emergency involving actual or threatened injury to persons or property. 

Section 7. Minutes of Meeting. The minutes or memoranda of a meeting at which any 

member participates by electronic means of communication must: 

(a) identify each member who: 

(1) was physically present at the meeting; 

(2) participated in the meeting by electronic means of communication; and 

(3) was absent; and  

(b) identify the electronic means of communication by which: 

(1) members participated in the meeting; and 

(2) members of the public attended and observed the meeting, if the meeting was 

not an executive session. 

Section 8. Prohibited Actions. No member of the Council may participate by means of 

electronic communication in a meeting at which the Council may take final action to: 

(a) adopt a budget; 

(b) make a reduction in personnel; 

(c) initiate a referendum; 

(d) impose or increase a fee; 

(e) impose or increase a penalty; 

(f) exercise the Council’s power of eminent domain; or 

(g) establish, impose, raise or renew a tax. 



Page 5 of 6 
 

Section 9.  Emergency Declarations. If an emergency is declared by (1) the governor 

under IC 10-14-3-12 or (2) the mayor under IC 10-14-3-29: 

(a) members are not required to be physically present for a meeting until the emergency 

is terminated; and  

(b) Members may participate in a meeting by any means of communication provided 

that: 

(1)  At least a quorum of the members participate in the meeting by means of 

electronic communication or in person; 

(2) The public may simultaneously attend and observe the meeting unless the 

meeting is an executive session; 

(3) The minutes or memoranda of the meeting must comply with Section 7 of this 

ordinance; and  

(4) All votes taken during a meeting at which at least one member participates by 

an electronic means of communication must be taken by roll call vote. 

Section 10. Amendment of Council Rules. This ordinance shall be added as § 30.18 of 

Title III of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Elkhart. 

Section 11. Effective Date. This ordinance shall be effective from and after adoption by 

this Council and compliance with IC 36-4-6-14. 

 RESOLVED ORDAINED this ____ day of ________________, _______. 
 

 
____________________________________ 
H. Brent CurryArvis Dawson 

     President of the Common Council 
ATTEST: 
 
______________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 



Page 6 of 6 
 

 
 PRESENTED to the Mayor by me this ________ day of ___________, _______, at  

  a.m./p.m. 

      _____________________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 

 
 
 APPROVED by me this _______ day of ________________, ______. 
 
 

_____________________________________ 
Rod Roberson, Mayor 

ATTEST: 
 
______________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 



Proposed Ordinance No. 22-O-04 

 

 

 

M E M O R A N D U M  

Date: January 28, 2022 

To: Arvis Dawson, Elkhart City Council President  

From: Tory Irwin, City Engineer 

RE: Responsible Bidders Ordinance 

 

In an effort to protect the quality of work on construction projects bid out by the City of Elkhart, the 
Administration seeks passage of this Responsible Bidders Ordinance (RBO).  The RBO will ensure that 
only qualified contractors and subcontractors are performing work on City projects. 



Page 1 of 6 
 

Proposed Ordinance No. 22-O-04 
 
 

ORDINANCE NO.     
 

AN ORDINANCE TO ESTABLISH RESPONSIBLE BIDDING PRACTICES AND 
SUBMISSION REQUIREMENTS ON PUBLIC WORKS PROJECTS 

        
 

WHEREAS, the City of Elkhart is required by law to award capital improvement 

contracts to the “lowest responsive and responsible” bidder; and 

WHEREAS, the City, based upon its experience, has determined that quality 

workmanship, efficient operation, safety, and timely completion of projects requires all bidders 

meet certain minimum requirements in order to be a “responsive and responsible” bidder; and 

WHEREAS, applicable state law also requires that bidders meet certain minimum 

requirements in order to be a “responsive and responsible” bidder; and 

WHEREAS, the City seeks to enhance its ability to identify “responsive and 

responsible” bidders on all City public works construction projects by institution of more 

comprehensive submission requirements which are in compliance with Indiana State law; and 

WHEREAS, the “Responsible Bidding Practices and Submission Requirements” 

Ordinance will preserve administrative resources by insuring that only qualified contractors 

and subcontractors are awarded contracts on public works construction projects; and 

WHEREAS, the “Responsible Bidding Practices and Submission Requirements” 

Ordinance will assure efficient use of taxpayer dollars, will promote public safety and is in the 

public interest; and 

WHEREAS, the “Responsible Bidding Practices and Submission Requirements” 

Ordinance will help ensure that no contractor awarded work under this Ordinance or any 

subcontractor at any tier working on a project awarded pursuant to this ordinance engages in 

payroll fraud, including the misclassification of employees as independent contractors to avoid 

paying state, federal or local payroll taxes, workers compensation insurance, unemployment 



Page 2 of 6 
 

insurance premiums and failing to pay overtime and wages as required by law. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA: 

SECTION 1. This Ordinance, entitled “Responsible Bidding Practices and Submission 
Requirements for Submitting Bids to Perform Construction Work on Public Works Projects,” 
is hereby enacted and shall read as follows: 
 
I. Bid Submission Requirements 
 
Contractors proposing to submit bids on any City of Elkhart (“City”) project estimated to be 
at least one-hundred fifty thousand dollars ($150,000.00) or more must, in order to be 
considered a “responsive” bidder, submit a statement with the bid, made under oath and subject 
to perjury laws, on a form designated by the City and must include: 
 
(A) A copy of a print-out of the Indiana Secretary of State’s on-line records for the bidder 

dated within sixty (60) days of the submission of said document showing that the bidder 
is in existence, current with the Indiana Secretary of State’s Business Entity Reports, 
and eligible for a certificate of good standing.  If the bidder is an individual, sole 
proprietor or partnership, this subsection shall not apply; 
 

(B) A list identifying all former business names within the last ten (10) years; 
 

(C) Any determinations by a court or governmental agency for violations of federal, state, 
or local laws including, but not limited to violations of contracting or antitrust laws, tax 
or licensing laws, environmental laws, the Occupational Safety and Health Act 
(OSHA); 
 

(D) Evidence of participation in apprenticeship training programs applicable to the work to 
be performed on the project which are approved by and registered with the United States 
Department of Labor’s Office of Apprenticeship, or its successor organization. The 
required evidence includes, but may not limited to, evidence that each apprenticeship 
program has graduated at least five (5) apprentices in each of the past five (5) years 
 

(E) The name and description of the experience of each of the bidder's project 
managers and superintendents that bidder intends to assign to work on the project; 
 

(F) A statement that all employees of the bidder who will perform work on the public works 
project will be in compliance with any drug testing requirements set forth in IC 4-13-
18-5 or IC 4-14-18-6 
 

(G) Proof of any professional or trade license required by law for any trade or specialty area 
in which bidder is seeking a contract award; and disclosure of any suspension or 
revocation within the previous five years of any professional or trade license held by 
the company, or of any director, office or manager employed by the bidder; 
 

(H) A written statement of any federal, state or local tax liens or tax delinquencies owed to  
any federal, state or local taxing body in the last five years; 



Page 3 of 6 
 

 
(I) A statement that individuals who will perform work on the public works project on 

behalf of the bidder will be properly classified as either (i) an employee or (ii) an 
independent contractor, under all applicable state and federal laws and local ordinances; 
 

(J) For contracts estimated to cost at least three hundred thousand dollars ($300,000), 
certification that all contractors and subcontractors are qualified under IC 4-13.4 or IC 
8-23-10.   
 

(K) A completed Contractor’s Bid for Public Works – Form 96 (latest revision) prescribed 
by the State Board of Accounts, which includes a list of projects completed within the 
last year or currently under construction and a list of names and addresses of all 
subcontractors from whom the bidder intends to hire on any part of the public works 
project. 
 

The City reserves the right to demand supplemental information from the 
bidder, additional verification any of the information provided by the bidder, and may 
conduct random inquiries of the bidder's current and prior customers. 
 
II. Post-Bid Submissions from Subcontractors 
 
Each subcontractor, of any tier, and regardless of the subcontract bid amount, shall be required 
to adhere to the requirements of Section I of this Ordinance as though it were bidding directly 
to the City. Subcontractors shall submit the required information to the successful bidder, who 
shall then forward said information to the City prior to the subcontractor’s first day of work on 
the public works project.  
 
Failure of a subcontractor to submit the required information shall not disqualify the successful 
bidder from performing work on the project and shall not constitute a contractual default and/or 
breach by the successful bidder. However, payment shall be withheld from any subcontractor 
who fails to timely submit said information until such information is submitted and approved 
by the City. Additionally, the City may require the successful bidder and/or relevant 
subcontractor to remove a subcontractor from the project and replace it with a responsive and 
responsible subcontractor. 
 
The disclosure of a subcontractor (“Disclosed Subcontractor”) by a bidder or a subcontractor 
shall not create any rights in the Disclosed Subcontractor.  Thus, a bidder and/or subcontractor 
may substitute another subcontractor (“Substitute Subcontractor”) for a Disclosed 
Subcontractor by giving the City written notice of the name, address, and type of work of the 
Substitute Subcontractor.  The Substitute Subcontractor is subject to all of the obligations of a 
subcontractor under this Ordinance.  
 
III. Validity of Pre-Qualification Classification 
 
When pre-qualification is required by the City, as specified within the project bidding 
documents, upon designation by the City that a contractor's or subcontractor's submission in 
anticipation of a bid is complete and timely, and upon any further consideration deemed 
necessary by the City, the contractor or subcontractor may be pre-qualified for future City 
public works projects. A contractor's classification as “qualified” shall exempt the contractor 
or sub-contractor from the comprehensive submission requirements contained herein for a 



Page 4 of 6 
 

period of twelve (12) months. 
 
Any material changes to the contractor's status, at any time, must be reported in writing within 
ten (10) days of its occurrence to the City. The pre-qualification designation is solely within 
the discretion of the City and the City specifically reserves the right to change or revoke the 
designation for a stated written reason(s). 
 
Denial of pre-qualification shall be in writing and shall be forwarded to the contractor within 
seven (7) working days of such decision. Any contractor denied or losing pre-qualification 
status may request reconsideration of the decision by submitting such request in writing to the 
City within five (5) business days of receipt of notice of denial. 
 
IV. Incomplete Submissions by Bidders 
 
It is the sole responsibility of the bidder to comply with all submission requirements herein no 
later than the public bid opening. Submissions deemed inadequate, incomplete, or untimely by 
the City shall result in the automatic disqualification of the bid. 
 
V.  Projects in Good Standing 
 
All projects the bidder currently has under contract with the City shall be in good standing.  A 
responsive and responsible bidder shall have no City contract that is currently past contractual 
time limits, or assessed liquidated damages for any reason.  The City may, through its City 
Engineer and Board of Public Works, in its sole discretion, classify a bidder non-responsible 
and disqualify a bidder for a period up to two (2) years after a liquidated damage is assessed. 
 
VI. Responsive and Responsible Bidder Determination 

 
After its review of complete and timely submissions, taking into account all information in the 
submission requirements, the City shall in its sole discretion, determine whether a bidder or 
subcontractor is responsive and responsible. The City reserves the right to utilize all 
information provided in the bidder or subcontractor’s submission or any information obtained 
by the City through its own independent verification of the information provided. 
 
VII. Certified Payroll 
 
When requested by the City, for projects in which the cost is at least one-hundred fifty thousand 
dollars ($150,000), the successful bidder and all subcontractors working on a public works 
project shall submit a certified payroll report utilizing federal form WH-347 or its successor 
form, which must be prepared on a weekly basis and submitted to the City within ten (10) 
calendar days after the end of each week in which the successful bidder or subcontractor 
performed on the public works project. Certified payroll reports shall identify the job title and 
craft of each employee on the project, e.g. journeyman electrician or apprentice electrician. In 
the event any successful bidder or subcontractor uses independent contractors to perform work 
on the project, such individual must be identified on the federal form WH-347 or successor 
form with the same information as is required for employees. 
 
The City shall not withhold payment to a successful bidder or subcontractor for failure of the 
successful bidder or one or more other subcontractors to timely submit their certified payroll 
reports, unless Federal or State funds are withheld from the City due to failure to submit 



Page 5 of 6 
 

certified payroll.   
 
VIII. Public Records 
 
All information submitted by a bidder or a subcontractor pursuant to this Ordinance, including 
certified payrolls, are public records subject to review pursuant to the Indiana Access to Public 
Records law (IC 5-14-3).  
 
IX. Penalties for False, Deceptive, or Fraudulent Statements/Information 
 
Any bidder that willfully makes, or willfully causes to be made, a false, deceptive or fraudulent 
statement, or willfully submits false, deceptive or fraudulent information in connection with 
any submission made to the City shall be disqualified from bidding on all City projects for a 
period of three (3) years. 
 
X.  Conflicting Ordinances 
 
Any ordinance or provision of any ordinance in conflict with the provisions of this Ordinance 
is hereby repealed.  

 
XI.    Severability  
 
If any provision of this Ordinance is found to be invalid, the remaining provisions of this 
Ordinance shall not be affected by such a determination; such provisions shall remain in full 
force and effect. 
 
XII. No Private Cause of Action  
 
This ordinance does not create a private right of action by or on behalf of any person or entity 
based on a complaint that a bidder or contractor has violated this ordinance or the contractor’s 
agreement with the City. This ordinance is not intended either to expand or to limit rights 
provided by other local, state, or federal laws. 
 
SECTION 2. This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after the date of 
adoption by the City Council of the City of Elkhart, Indiana. 
 

So ORDAINED this    day of    ,   . 

 
            
      Arvis Dawson 
      President of the Common Council 
ATTEST: 
 
      
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 
 
 



Page 6 of 6 
 

 PRESENTED to the Mayor by me this    day of    , 

  ,  at _________ a.m./p.m.  

            
      Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 
 
 
Approved by me this    day of    ,   . 
 
 
            
      Rod Roberson, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
      
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 
 





Page 1 of 3 

        Proposed Ordinance No. 22-O-05 

 

ORDINANCE NO.     

 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE ZONING MAP CREATED 

PURSUANT TO ORDINANCE NO. 4370, THE “ZONING ORDINANCE OF THE CITY 
OF ELKHART, INDIANA” AS AMENDED, TO REZONE 1637, 1643, AND 1649 W. 

INDIANA AVENUE IN THE CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA FROM R-3, TWO-
FAMILY DWELLING DISTRICT TO R-2, ONE-FAMILY DWELLING DISTRICT 

 
WHEREAS, on July 20, 1998, the Common Council of the City of Elkhart, Indiana (the 

“Common Council”) adopted Ordinance No. 4370 (the “Zoning Ordinance of the City of Elkhart, 

Indiana”), creating the zoning map that established the zoning districts for all real estate located 

within the corporate boundaries of the City of Elkhart (commonly referred to as the “Zoning 

Map”); and 

WHEREAS, the real estate located at 1637 W. Indiana Avenue, 1643 W. Indiana Avenue, 

and 1649 W. Indiana Avenue, in the City of Elkhart, Indiana (the “Real Estate”), are all zoned R-

3, Two-Family Dwelling District; and 

WHEREAS, the owners of the Real Estate petitioned the Elkhart City Plan Commission, 

requesting to amend the Zoning Map to simplify the zoning of these parcels; and 

WHEREAS, the intended use of the Real Estate is not a permitted use, thus requiring that 

the subject Real Estate be rezoned from R-3, Two-Family Dwelling District to R-2, One-Family 

Dwelling District, if the owners’ intended use is to be allowed; and  

WHEREAS, the rezoning, as petitioned, remains compatible with the adjacent properties 

and reflects responsible growth and development; and  



Page 2 of 3 

WHEREAS, on February 7, 2022, the Elkhart City Plan Commission conducted a public 

hearing on the petition to amend the Zoning Map for the purpose stated herein and voted to forward 

to this Council the Commission’s “DO PASS” recommendation. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA that 

Section 1. The zoning map created pursuant to and incorporated into Ordinance No. 4370, 

as amended, the Zoning Ordinance of the City of Elkhart, Indiana, is hereby further amended to 

rezone from R-3, Two-Family Dwelling District to R-2, One-Family Dwelling District, the 

following real estate, located in the City of Elkhart, County of Elkhart, State of Indiana, and more-

fully described as follows:  

Legal Description: 
 

 
 
 

A part of the Southeast Quarter of Section 7, Township 37 North, Range 5 East, Concord Township, 

Elkhart County, State of Indiana and being more particularly described as follows:  

Commencing at the Center of said Section 7; thence South 89°22'34" East along the North line of 

the Southeast Quarter of said Section 7 a distance of 62.50 feet to the Point of Beginning of this 

description; thence continuing South 89°22'34" East along the North line of the Southeast Quarter 

of said Section 7 a distance of 209.23 feet; thence South 0°13'33" East a distance of 181.52 feet; 

thence North 89°22'34" West a distance of 210.17 feet; thence North 0°4'20" East a distance of 

181.51 feet to the Point of Beginning of this Description. Address(s): 
 
1637 W. Indiana Avenue , Elkhart, IN 46516  
1643 W. Indiana Avenue , Elkhart, IN 46516  
1649 W. Indiana Avenue , Elkhart, IN 46516   

Parcel Identification Number(s): 
 
20-06-07-401-004.000-012  
20-06-07-401-003.000-012  
20-06-07-401-002.000-012    



Page 3 of 3 

 
 
 

Section 2. Effective Date.  This ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and 

after its passage by the Common Council. 

So ORDAINED this    day of    ,   . 
 
            
      Arvin Dawson 
      President of the Common council 
ATTEST: 
 
      
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 
 

PRESENTED to the Mayor by me this    day of    ,  , 

at _________ a.m./p.m.  

           
     Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 
 
 
Approved by me this    day of    ,   . 
 
 
            
      Rod Roberson, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
      
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk
 















































































Proposed Ordinance No. 21-O-68-R 

 

ORDINANCE NO.  ___________ 

 

AN ORDINANCE APPROPRIATING ONE MILLION DOLLARS ($1,000,000.00) 

FOR LAND ACQUISITION IN CONNECTION WITH THE NEW PUBLIC 

SAFETY FACILITIES FOR THE ELKHART POLICE DEPARTMENT AND  

ELKHART FIRE DEPARTMENT 

___________________________________________ 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Elkhart has been engaged in a multi-year process to locate, 

design and build new public safety facilities for the city; and  

WHEREAS, in 2019, the Common Council appropriated One Million Two 

Hundred Thousand Dollars ($1,200,000.00) in connection with the land acquisition costs 

for the public safety building project for the city; and  

WHEREAS, the 2019 appropriation of One Million Two Hundred Thousand 

Dollars ($1,200,000.00) will be released to original fund from which the monies were 

originally appropriated as a new lesser appropriation is requested; and  

WHEREAS, the Administration is requesting a new appropriation in the amount of 

One Million Dollars ($1,000,000.00) for the estimated land acquisition costs for the new 

public safety facilities for the Elkhart Police Department and the Elkhart Fire Department; 

and 

WHEREAS, there exist among the unappropriated funds of the Economic 

Development Local Income Tax Fund (“EDIT Fund”) of the City of Elkhart, sufficient and 

appropriate sums for the purposes stated herein. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Common Council of the City of 

Elkhart, Indiana, that:  



Page 2 of 2 
 

Section 1.  The total sum of One Million Dollars ($1,000,000.00) is appropriated 

from the Economic Development Local Income Tax Fund No. 444 (“EDIT Fund”) and 

allocated to the following account category in the amount:    

  

 

 

Section 2.  The Common Council has fixed the ____ day of _________________, 

_______ , at 7:00 p.m., in the Council Chambers, as the date, time and place when the 

Common Council will consider and determine the appropriation, and the taxpayers of the 

City of Elkhart, Indiana, shall have then and there the right to be heard. 

Section 3.  This Ordinance shall be in effect from and after its passage and approval, 

according to law. 

ORDAINED this ___ day of _______________, ______ . 

 

 

      __________________________________ 

      H. Brent Curry 

      President of the Common Council 

ATTEST: 

 

__________________________ 

Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 

 

 

PRESENTED to the Mayor by me this ____ day of ________________, ______ , 

at      a.m./p.m.    

_________________________________ 

Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 

APPROVED by me this ____ day of ________________, ______ . 

 

 

      __________________________________ 

ATTEST:     Rod Roberson, Mayor 

 

__________________________ 

Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 

Account  Description  Amount 

444-5-016-441.0000  Land & Land Improvements   $1,000,000.00 























































































































































































































Roderic Roberson 
Mayor  
 
Jamie Arce 
City Controller 
 

 City Controller’s Office 
229 S. Second St. 
Elkhart, IN 46516 

 
574.294.5471 

Fax:  574.294.8491 

 

Memo 
 

To: City Council 
CC: Rod Roberson, Mayor 
From: Jamie Arce, Controller 
Regarding: American Rescue Plan Compliance Report 
Date: February 3, 2022 

 
 

 

On March 11, 2021, the American Rescue Plan Act was signed into law, and established the 
Coronavirus State Fiscal Recovery Fund and Coronavirus Local Fiscal Recovery Fund, which together 
make up the Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds (“SLFRF”) program. This program is 
intended to provide support to State, territorial, local, and Tribal governments in responding to the 
economic and public health impacts of COVID-19 and in their efforts to contain impacts on their 
communities, residents, and businesses.  

City of Elkhart was awarded $18,042,360 of SLFRF as an entitlement unit and received it’s first of two 
equal payments of $9,021,180.00 on May 19, 2021 and is expected to receive the remaining 
$9,021,180.00 on or around May 19, 2022.  Throughout the 2022 you approved appropriating 
ordinance for the following projects: 

• Ordinance 5859 – $1,800,000.00, North Main Street Water Main Replacement  
• Ordinance 5860 – $1,000,000.00, Jackson & Johnson Water Main & Signal Replacement  
• Ordinance 5861 – $500,000.00, Public Health Response Communication Campaign  
• Ordinance 5862 – $3,600,000.00, LaSalle, Bristol, Benham Water Project 
• Ordinance 5863 – $3,000,000.00, West Lexington Water Main Replacement  
• Ordinance 5868 – $117,000.00, Downtown Property Activation Program  
• Ordinance 5870 – $1,500,000.00, HVAC Upgrades for City Hall & Annex Buildings  
• Ordinance 5881 – $2,790,000.00, Workforce Housing Initiatives  
• Ordinance 5882 - $75,000.00, South Central Neighborhood Master Plan 
• Ordinance 5883 - $900,000, Elkhart West Business Park Expansion 



Roderic Roberson 
Mayor  
 
Jamie Arce 
City Controller 
 

 City Controller’s Office 
229 S. Second St. 
Elkhart, IN 46516 

 
574.294.5471 

Fax:  574.294.8491 

 

A requirement of all entitlement units is the submission of the SLFRF Project and Expenditure 
Compliance Report, which you should find included as part of this communication.  This report is 
for the period of March 1, 2021 through December 31, 2021 and is broken out by specific project 
and expenditure type as required by the United States Treasury.  Future reporting deadlines will be 
on a quarterly basis, the next of which will be for the period January 1, 2022 – March 31, 2022 and 
is due April 30, 2022.  You should expect to see those reports included as a communication in your 
May meeting cycle and also see them added to the website as this report will be added. 

Please note that not all projects that were appropriated in 2021 were included as part of the 
project and expenditure report.  Certain projects that have not incurred expenditures and that are 
still in the defining stages of the project with program narratives not yet complete are not included.  
The lack of inclusion in this report is not out of line with the reporting requirements and will be 
included in future reports as expenditures occur.  You may also notice that there are questions on 
Equity and Evidence that appear to be unanswered and are left blank on page six (6).  These 
questions were not available for us to answer as they are not a required component of our project 
and expenditure report based on our expenditure types and type of unit, and should not be seen as 
an error or omission in our reporting. 

I hope that you find this report helpful and informative.  Please let me know if you have any 
questions surrounding as me and my team will be happy to provide you whatever you need. 

 

 



Recipient Profile

Recipient DUNS 048995989
Recipient DUNS (+4)
Recipient TIN 356001016
Recipient Legal Entity Name Elkhart, Indiana
Recipient Type
FAIN
CFDA No./Assistance Listing
Recipient Address 229 South Second Street
Recipient Address 2
Recipient Address 3
Recipient City Elkhart
Recipient State/Territory IN
Recipient Zip5 46516
Recipient Zip+4
Recipient Reporting Tier Tier 2. Metropolitan cities and counties with a population below 

250,000 residents which received more than $10 million in SLFRF 
funding

Discrepancies Explanation
Is the Recipient Registered in SAM.Gov? Yes

SLFRF Compliance Report - SLT-1990 - P&E Report - 2021 Report Period : 
March - December 2021



Project Overview
Project Name: Vaccination Incentive Program

Project Identification Number 5861-01 & 5861-03
Project Expenditure Category 1-Public Health | 3 Services to Disporportionately Impacted 

C i iProject Expenditure Subcategory 1.1-COVID-19 Vaccination | 3.16-Social Determinants of Health:
Community Violence Interventions

Total Obligations $35,000.00
Total Expenditures $30,542.80

Project Description

The City of Elkhart, Heart City Health and other local not-for-profits 
will partner to host anti-gun violence and vaccination events. These 
events will take place within a community that is marginalized and 
has experienced low vaccination rates and higher death rates due to 
the COVID 19 pandemic. These events will offer an incentive 
program that will provide a $100.00 gift card that they would be 
eligible for upon successful completion of a two dose vaccine 
provided by Heart City.

Project Name: Public Information Campaign

Project Identification Number 5861-02
Project Expenditure Category 1-Public Health
Project Expenditure Subcategory 1.8-Other COVID-19 Public Health Expenses (including 

Communications, Enforcement)
Total Obligations $177,584.00
Total Expenditures $11,760.00
Project Description Public Information and outreach campaign utilizing various media 

outlets designed to provide impactful bilingual messaging regarding 
the need for vaccinations and locally available locations.



Project Name: Administrative Expense

Project Identification Number 9999-01
Project Expenditure Category 7-Administrative and Other
Project Expenditure Subcategory 7.1-Administrative Expenses
Total Obligations $3,856.25
Total Expenditures $3,856.25
Project Description Professional services were provided pertaining to eligibility of select 

proposed programs as defined by the Interim Final Rule

Project Name: Jackson & Johnson Water Main

Project Identification Number 5860-01
Project Expenditure Category 5-Infrastructure
Project Expenditure Subcategory 5.11-Drinking water: Transmission & distribution
Total Obligations $0.00
Total Expenditures $0.00
Project Description This project will extend water main and service properties that 

currently do not have access to the City's water system, while also 
providing better fire coverage to an area isolated by train tracks and 
the Elkhart River.

Project Name: North Main Street Water Main Replacement

Project Identification Number 5859-01
Project Expenditure Category 5-Infrastructure
Project Expenditure Subcategory 5.11-Drinking water: Transmission & distribution
Total Obligations $0.00
Total Expenditures $0.00

Project Description

The water mains along this stretch of Main Street between Jackson 
Street and the bridge at Beardsley are 95+ years old. Given their age, 
importance and high risk of failure, we have scoped the project to 
replace the water main, add storm sewer, and associated restoration 
of surface features, on this corridor which is one of the main 
corridors into downtown Elkhart.



Project Name: West Lexington Water Main Replacement

Project Identification Number 5863-01
Project Expenditure Category 5-Infrastructure
Project Expenditure Subcategory 5.12-Drinking water: Transmission & distribution: lead remediation

Total Obligations $0.00
Total Expenditures $0.00

Project Description

The existing water main is 95 years old and needs lead service lines 
removed and replaced through the project limits. Additionally, the 
line was constructed too shallow causing freezing and main breaks. 
The project will completely remove and replace the water main and 
install new copper service lines. The new line and services will 
ensure the removal of lead in residential water lines.

Project Name: Lasalle, Bristol, & Benham Water Project

Project Identification Number 5862-01
Project Expenditure Category 5-Infrastructure
Project Expenditure Subcategory 5.6-Clean Water: Stormwater
Total Obligations $0.00
Total Expenditures $0.00

Project Description

This neighborhood has lead service lines that must be replaced, water 
main that isn't looped, long services lines instead of water mains, 
combined sewers and flooding in the neighborhood during rain 
events. We are proposing to completely remove and replace water 
main along urgent parts of the neighborhood and removing and 
replacing lead service lines. New water main will ensure public 
drinking water quality. New storm sewer will reduce flooding,
back-ups, CSO overflows.



Expenditures
Aggregate Disbursements less than $50,000

Expenditure: EN-00036863
Project Name Vaccination Incentive Program
Expenditure Category
Subaward Type (Aggregates) Aggregate of Direct Payments
Total Quarterly Expenditure Amount $10,000.00
Total Quarterly Obligation Amount $10,000.00

Expenditure: EN-00036875
Project Name Public Information Campaign
Expenditure Category
Subaward Type (Aggregates) Aggregate of Direct Payments
Total Quarterly Expenditure Amount $11,760.00
Total Quarterly Obligation Amount $177,584.00

Expenditure: EN-00047609
Project Name Anti-Gun Violence Campaign
Expenditure Category
Subaward Type (Aggregates) Aggregate of Direct Payments
Total Quarterly Expenditure Amount $20,542.80
Total Quarterly Obligation Amount $25,000.00

Expenditure: EN-00047612
Project Name Administrative Expense
Expenditure Category
Subaward Type (Aggregates) Aggregate of Direct Payments
Total Quarterly Expenditure Amount $3,856.25
Total Quarterly Obligation Amount $3,856.25



Report
Federal Financial Reporting
Base Year General Revenue
Fiscal Year End Date
Growth Adjustment Used
Actual General Revenue as of 12 months ended 
December 31, 2020
Estimated Revenue Loss Due to Covid-19 Public Health 
Emergency as of December 31, 2020

$8,000,000.00

Were Fiscal Recovery Funds used to make a deposit into 
a pension fund?

No

Please provide an explanation of how revenue 
replacement funds were allocated to government services

Revenue replacement funds have not been allocated to government 
services as of December, 31, 2021.

Questions on Equity and Evidence
1. Do you have a learning agenda, evidence-building plan, 
or another strategic approach to using evidence and 
evaluation for the spending outlined in your Recovery 
Plan?
1. If Yes, Please provide a link
2. Do the performance metrics for the projects listed in 
the Recovery Plan include data disaggregated by race, 
ethnicity, gender, income, and other relevant factors?

3. Do you have a full Community Engagement Plan that 
accompanies the community engagement activities 
outlined in your Recovery Plan?

3. If Yes, Please provide a link
4. Do you have a public awareness campaign or other 
planned dissemination activities to make residents and 
businesses aware of the SLFRF supported projects from 
your Recovery Plan?
4. If Yes, Please describe in 1-2 sentences and provide a 
link.
5. What is the total number of performance indicators 
across all projects in your Recovery Plan (including 
mandatory performance indicators)?



Certification
Name CARLOS ARCE
Telephone (574) 322-4863
Title City Controller
Email jamie.arce@coei.org
Submission Date 1/31/2022 4:38 PM

mailto:jamie.arce@coei.org


Roderic Roberson 
Mayor  
 
Jamie Arce 
City Controller 
 

 City Controller’s Office 
229 S. Second St. 
Elkhart, IN 46516 

 
574.294.5471 

Fax:  574.294.8491 

 

Memo 
 

To: Elkhart City Council  
From: Erin Koons, Deputy Controller 
Regarding: Budget Encumbrances from 2021 to 2022 
Date: February 9, 2022 

 
 

 

Council,  

The State Board of Accounts recommends that encumbrances be presented to proper city 
officials and incorporated in meeting minutes. It is our opinion that acceptance of this 
communication will satisfy this best practice recommendation.  In an effort to remain transparent 
and in alignment with state guidance the finance department will begin reporting a list of 
encumbrances on an annual basis. 

In order for an encumbrance requisition to be approved the request must meet certain 
predefined criteria. Encumbrances are not used as a means to enhance the 2022 budget, but 
should be for existing budgeted funds that have been obligated in 2021 which were not yet 
delivered or completed by year end.  Each request must be a minimum of $1,000 and 
accompanied by an invoice, signed contract, accepted bid, quote, or proposal.  Infrastructure and 
certain other projects where additional appropriations have been approved specifically for a 
unique purpose have also been determined eligible for encumbrances.  We have continued to 
follow this long standing past practice with these types of projects as we believe it aligns with the 
spirit of council action that was taken.   

Attached you will find the list of encumbrances from the 2021 budget that will be carried over 
into 2022.  

 

 



Fund 
Number Fund Name

 Total 
Encumbrance 

101 General  $     4,534,705.05 
176 American Rescue Plan  $  15,020,036.20 
201 MVH  $        214,083.86 
204 Parks & Recreation  $        137,442.50 
206 Aviation 122,876.61$        
227 Central Garage 47,462.60$           
236 Record Perpetuation 13,871.76$           
257 LOIT Special Distribution 1,289,195.85$     
273 Environmental Center 16,280.96$           
277 NYC RR Museum 3,024.44$             
280 Lerner 3,600.24$             
285 Local Road & Bridge Match 1,069,080.60$     
286 Park Program 1,440.23$             
303 Park Bond 362,500.00$        
402 Cummulative Capital Development (IT) 118,020.81$        
429 Cummulative Sewer 236,450.00$        
433 Cummulative Fire Equipment & Police 159,395.00$        
444 EDIT 3,403,912.36$     
460 Elkhart Capital Outlay 5,526,740.54$     
720 Mausoleum Prepetual Care 7,999.00$             

32,288,118.61$   

Encumbrances from 2021 Budget to 2022
Fund Summary



Fund Account Number Account Name
No. of 

Encumbrances Amount

101 5-000-436.0100 Repairs & Maintenance 2 500,000.00$        
101 5-000-444.0000 Utilities & Infrastructure 2 1,569,253.20$     

2,069,253.20$     

101 5-002-431.0400 Professional Services 1 45,877.00$           
101 5-002-439.0900 Other Services & Charges 1 5,000.00$             
101 5-002-444.0100 Furniture & Fixtures 1 3,605.64$             

54,482.64$          

101 5-015-431.0400 Professional Services 2 430,691.79$        

430,691.79$        

101 5-016-431.0400 Professional Services 4 194,433.52$        
101 5-016-439.0120 Brownfield Services 2 87,557.12$           
101 5-016-439.0900 Other Services & Charges 1 3,494.00$             

285,484.64$        

101 5-017-431.0400 Professional Services 1 117,982.59$        
101 5-017-439.0110 Historical Preservation 1 3,717.63$             

121,700.22$        

101 5-214-422.0180 Firefighter Rig Gear 1 24,490.00$           
101 5-214-423.0300 Small Tools & Minor Equip 1 12,169.84$           
101 5-214-436.0200 Equipment Repairs 1 7,777.20$             

101 5-214-439.1000 Minor Miscellaneous Small Capital 2 17,554.30$           

61,991.34$          

101 5-218-439.1000 Minor Miscellaneous Small Capital 2 7,962.42$             

7,962.42$             

101 5-219-422.0150 Operating Supplies 34 372,104.18$        
101 5-219-422.0185 Police Uniform 6 14,148.40$           
101 5-219-422.0350 Instrument/Medical 1 1,826.05$             
101 5-219-423.0200 Repair Parts 1 4,132.95$             
101 5-219-431.0400 Professional Services 2 30,830.00$           

Encumbrances from 2021 Budget to 2022
Department Detail

Communciations Department 218 Totals:

Non-Departmental Department 000 Totals:

Board of Works Department 002 Totals:

Legal Department 015 Totals:

Economic Development Department 016 Totals:

Planning Department 017 Totals:

Fire Department 214 Totals:



Fund Account Number Account Name
No. of 

Encumbrances Amount

101 5-219-433.0300 Advertising 2 5,887.80$             
101 5-219-436.0100 Repairs & Maintenance - Bldg 2 56,093.68$           
101 5-219-436.0200 Equipment Repair 1 4,500.71$             
101 5-219-439.0912 Contract Services 3 560,852.38$        
101 5-219-444.0200 Motor Equipment 2 81,254.00$           

1,131,630.15$     

101 5-303-422.0150 Operating Supplies 1 11,868.00$           
101 5-303-423.0125 Street & Alley Materials 1 10,100.00$           
101 5-303-423.0141 Landscaping 3 9,872.56$             
101 5-303-436.0100 Repairs & Maintenance 1 24,282.00$           
101 5-303-442.0400 Building & Structures 1 25,943.36$           
101 5-303-444.0200 Motor Equipment 4 289,442.73$        

371,508.65$        

176 5-000-439.0500 Public Health Response 13 5,620,036.20$     
176 5-000-442.0000 Utilities & Infrastructure 4 9,400,000.00$     

15,020,036.20$   

201 5-310-423.0111 Paving Materials 2 76,946.73$           
201 5-310-436.0200 Equipment Repair 1 22,736.53$           
201 5-310-444.0200 Motor Equipment 6 114,400.60$        

214,083.86$        

204 5-501-422.0150 Operating Supplies 1 2,178.45$             
204 5-501-431.0400 Professional Services 1 20,000.00$           
204 5-501-439.0900 Other Services & Charges 1 242.80$                
204 5-501-444.0500 Other Equipment 5 115,021.25$        

137,442.50$        

206 5-201-422.0170 Paint 1 1,840.00$             
206 5-201-423.0200 Repair Parts 1 1,861.34$             
206 5-201-443.0000 Utilities & Infrastructure 1 1,553.91$             
206 5-201-444.0500 Other Equipment 2 117,621.36$        

122,876.61$        

227 5-901-436.0100 Repairs & Maintenance - Bldg 1 3,235.00$             
227 5-901-442.0400 Building & Structures 3 44,227.60$           

47,462.60$          

American Rescue Plan Department 000 Totals:

Central Garage Department 901 Totals:

MVH Street Department 310 Totals:

Police Department 219 Totals:

Buildings & Grounds Department 303 Totals:

Parks & Recreation Department 501 Totals:

Aviation Department 201 Totals:



Fund Account Number Account Name
No. of 

Encumbrances Amount

236 5-914-431.0400 Professional Services 1 7,871.76$             
236 5-914-439.0900 Other Services & Charges 1 6,000.00$             

13,871.76$          

257 5-310-439.0900 Other Services & Charges 1 1,289,195.85$     

1,289,195.85$     

273 5-302-436.0100 Repairs & Maintenance - Bldg 1 3,000.00$             
273 5-302-442.0400 Building & Structure 4 13,280.96$           

16,280.96$          

277 5-505-439.0912 Contract Services 1 3,024.44$             

3,024.44$             

280 5-502-431.0400 Professional Services 1 2,950.00$             
280 5-502-436.0200 Equipment Repair 1 650.24$                

3,600.24$             

285 5-250-431.1200 State Grant Expenditures 3 1,069,080.60$     

1,069,080.60$     

286 5-508-422.0101 Operating Supplies - Softball 1 1,440.23$             

1,440.23$             

303 5-920-438.0101 Park Bond Principal 1 270,000.00$        
303 5-920-438.0201 Park Bond Interest 1 92,500.00$           

362,500.00$        

402 5-030-432.0400 Telephone/Communication 2 39,530.11$           
402 5-030-436.0400 Maintenance Contract 2 49,934.60$           
402 5-030-439.0900 Other Services & Charges 1 5,711.00$             
402 5-030-444.0300 Office Equipment 2 2,845.10$             
402 5-030-444.0500 Other Equipment 1 20,000.00$           

118,020.81$        

429 5-690-443.0200 Improvement of Sewers 3 236,450.00$        

236,450.00$        

Local Road & Bridge Department 250 Totals:

Park Program Department 508 Totals:

Park Bond Department 920 Totals:

Cummulative Capital (IT) Department 030 

Cummulative Sewer Department 690 Totals:

Record Perpetuation Department 914 Totals:

LOIT Special Distribution Department 310 

Environmental Center Department 302 Totals:

NYC RR Museum Department 505 Totals:

Lerner Department 502 Totals:



Fund Account Number Account Name
No. of 

Encumbrances Amount

433 5-680-442.0400 Building & Structure 4 159,395.00$        

159,395.00$        

444 5-016-431.0400 Professional Services 1 2,063,983.49$     
444 5-016-439.0900 Other Services & Charges 1 17,000.00$           
444 5-016-441.0000 Land & Land Improvement 1 1,043,035.04$     

3,124,018.53$     

444 5-301-439.0900 Other Services & Charges 2 279,893.83$        

279,893.83$        

460 5-000-443.0000 Utilities & Infrastructure 1 1,000,000.00$     

1,000,000.00$     

460 5-700-441.0000 Land & Land Improvements 1 4,518,642.29$     
460 5-700-443.0000 Utilities & Infrastructure 1 8,098.25$             

4,526,740.54$     

720 5-402-444-0200 Motor Equipment 1 7,999.00$             

7,999.00$             

Capital Outlay Department 700 Totals:

Mausoleum Prepetual Care Department 402 

Cummulative Fire Department 680 Totals:

EDIT - Economic Development Department 016 

EDIT - Public Works Department 301 Totals:

Capital Outlay Department 000 Totals:


	AGENDA AND PACKET FOR FEBRUARY 14, 2022 COUNCIL MEETING.pdf
	Minutes of January 10 2022 Council Meeting
	Proposed Ordinance 22-O-03 an ordinance amending council rules
	Proposed Ordinance 22-O-04 an ordinance regarding responsible bidding
	ADP1164.tmp
	ORDINANCE NO.
	AN ORDINANCE TO ESTABLISH RESPONSIBLE BIDDING PRACTICES AND
	SUBMISSION REQUIREMENTS ON PUBLIC WORKS PROJECTS
	I. Bid Submission Requirements
	III. Validity of Pre-Qualification Classification
	IV. Incomplete Submissions by Bidders
	V.  Projects in Good Standing
	VI. Responsive and Responsible Bidder Determination
	VII. Certified Payroll
	VIII. Public Records



	Proposed Ordinance 22-O-05 an ordinance rezoning propery on W. Indiana Ave
	Proposed Ordinance 21-O-46-approp. $500,000 from ARP for Homeowner Occupire Property Rehab Program
	Proposed Ordinance 21-O-49, an ord. approp. $322,350.00 from ARP for the Elkhart Thrive Nieghborhood Opp. Hub Initiative
	Proposed Ordinance 21-O-67-an ord. approp. $4,200,000.00 for new public safety facilities
	Proposed Ordinance 21-O-68-R Public Safety Project Land Acquisition
	Proposed Ordinance 21-O-57-R-approp. $1,000,000.00 for HVAC for Lerner
	Proposed Ordinance 22-O-01-annexing 25610 CR 4 and 52396 CR 9 in COE
	Proposed Resolution 22-R-04 tax phase-in for Marson International
	Proposed Resolution 22-R-05 tax phase-in for Pontoonstuff Inc.
	Minutes of January 18 2022 Board of Public Works
	Minutes of January 3 2022 Plan Commission
	American Rescue Plan Compliance Report
	American Rescue Plan Compliance Report - Council Communication (Updated).pdf
	Table 1


	Budget Encumbrances from 2021 to 2022
	Council Summary
	Council


